1966

Mary Louise Gerard v. Preston L. Young and Unice Young : Brief of Appellants

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is an action brought by Plaintiff-Respondent seeking to forfeit a lease for a term of years based on Defendants-Appellants' alleged "payoffs" on pinball machines and punch boards. Delinquent rental is not an issue.

This action has been treated as if in unlawful detainer under 78-36-1, et seq., 1953 UCA, though not pleaded. The pleading theory of plaintiff is that a lease provision has been violated by defendants and the lease should be rescinded, (R2, Paragraph 6).

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The following hurried sequence of events took place:

1. Complaint for lease cancellation and for restitution of the leasehold was filed June 13, 1966 (R. 1). Time for answer was shortened to three days, arranged ex parte, with no reference to statutory authority, if any, to do it (R. 1, 2, 3). 78-36-8, 1953 UCA seems to require a rental delinquency in order for the court to shorten time of answer.

2. Answer was filed June 15, denying gambling or right to restitution of premises if there was gambling (R. 8).

3. Defendants-Appellants filed motion for summary judgment on June 15, 1966 (R. 12), noticed for argument July 5, 1966 (R. 11).

4. Counsel for plaintiff-respondent obtained special pretrial setting for 12 p.m., June 22, 1966, though notice of readiness for trial was not filed by plaintiff until July 1, 1966 (R. 22).

5. There was no judge for the special pretrial hearing on June 22, 1966, so plaintiff continued it to June 24, 1966. On June 24, the pretrial judge ordered a further pretrial to be held on September 30, 1966 and placed the case on the jury trial calendar for October 26, 1966.

6. On July 30, 1966, plaintiff-respondent filed motion for summary judgment, also to be heard on July 5, 1966 (R. 14).

7. Plaintiff-respondent's motion for summary judgment was supported by three affidavits alleging receipts of "payoffs" at the leasehold premises, (R. 16, 17, 19). Defendants-appellants filed an affidavit in opposition to plaintiff's affidavits stating there was no acquaintance with plaintiff's affiants and that defendants-appellants were entitled to examine those persons under oath and test their veracity and interest in the subject of the litigation to overcome the self-serving nature and hearsay characteristics in those affidavits submitted by plaintiff, (R. 23).

8. Both motions for summary judgment were argued July 5, 1966.

9. Memorandum decision granting plaintiff-respondent's motion for summary judgment was issued by the Trial Court July 6, 1966 (R. 25).

10. On July 8, 1966 defendants-appellants made motion for reconsideration of the memorandum decision (R. 29), which was supported by further affidavit of defendants-appellants stating that the affidavits pertaining to "payoffs" were, to the best knowledge and belief of affiant, false (R. 26).

11. Based upon the motion to reconsider, with supporting affidavit, the Court ordered both parties' motions for summary judgment denied and ordered that the matter remain on the pretrial calendar for Friday, September 30, 1966 and that Trial be held Wednesday, October 26, 1966, as previously scheduled. The Court in the order of July 8, affirmatively found that there were questions of fact to be determined at trial (R. 30).

12. On July 13, again ex parte, plaintiff's counsel obtained a trial setting for July 19, 1966 (R. 34), despite the July 8 order that trial would be October 26, 1966 (R. 30).

13. On July 13, 1966, defendants-appellants filed objection to the July 19 trial setting (R. 33), noticing hearing on objection for July 18, 1966 (R. 31). Hearing on the objection was had before the Honorable Albert H. Ellett, who refused to proceed with the matter since the special trial setting had been obtained before the Honorable Stewart M. Hanson. The court was on vacation on July 19, 1966, with no reporter and no jury was on hand, despite defendants-appellants demand for jury having been filed and a jury fee having been paid (R. 32).

Trial was not held July 19, 1966, though plaintiff's counsel offered to obtain a court reporter and pay for him. Plaintiff's counsel was not, however, successful in persuading the clerk of the court to summons a jury, in the face of appellant's objection.

14. July 19, 1966, defendants-appellants filed petition to the Supreme Court of Utah for an interlocutory appeal, which was denied by the court in Case 10692. July 27, 1966.

15. Under date of July 19, 1966, plaintiff-respondent noticed the taking of defendant's deposition for July 26, 1966. Notice was filed with the Court July 27, 1966 (R. 34).

16. The deposition of defendant, Preston L. Young, was taken July 29, 1966 (R. 60). He refused to answer

questions concerning pinballs and punch boards based on the self-incrimination provisions of the 5th amendment to the United States Constitution.

17. Under date of July 21, 1966 plaintiff-respondent again filed motion for summary judgment based upon previous allegations and affidavits set forth in the first motion for summary judgment heard on July 5, 1966. The motion was filed July 27. (R. 36).

18. The same matter having already been argued and ruled on by the Trial Court, was again heard and argued on August 9, 1966.

19. On August 9, 1966, the day of the second argument, the Trial Court made and entered its order granting plaintiff-respondent's latest motion for summary judgment, from which order this appeal is taken.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

1. Defendants-appellants seek decision that having pinballs and punch boards on cafe premises, even if "payoffs" are made, is not sufficient grounds to found an action in unlawful detainer.

2. Appellants seek ruling that if there were "payoffs" on pinball machines and punch boards then the Utah gambling statutes are unconstitutional and such conduct is not unlawful.

3. In the alternative, appellants seek ruling that the issue of gambling be decided by a jury; and that gambling, if any, as an "unlawful business" under 78-36-3(4), 1953 UCA, or as a "material breach" of lease be determined by a jury these questions being issues of fact,

not properly ruled on as a matter of law by the Trial Court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 1964, plaintiff and defendant extended a prior lease made in 1962, and entered into a new three year lease commencing April 15, 1965 for a cafe and cafe equipment at 890 West 2100 South Street, Salt Lake County. There was prepayment by appellants of \$1,500 under the new lease, as rental for the last 5 months of the new term, which expires May 14, 1968.

Monthly rentals payments of \$300 were always paid when due, or in advance.

Without consent or knowledge of appellants, plaintiff executed lease agreement on August 13, 1965, with American Oil Company, covering certain other property, but including the property already under lease to appellants. Under the American Oil Company lease, plaintiff received the sum of \$4,500 as advance rental for the first 6 months, together with the sum of \$1,500, in return for which plaintiff was to obtain cancellation of defendants-appellants' lease (R. 47).

The "cancellation" attempt resulting from this agreement with American Oil Company was the hiring of persons who executed affidavits in support of plaintiff's first motion for summary judgment based on gambling. (R. 16, 17, 19). The \$1,500 lease prepayment made by appellants was tendered into court by plaintiff upon filing the complaint. It is the same amount gotten from American Oil Company in consideration for getting de-

defendants off the property later leased to American Oil Company, despite appellants' prior lease.

The \$1,500 received by plaintiff from American Oil Company and tendered into court by plaintiff was, of course, promptly sequestered and taken back on the same day of the last argument for summary judgment, pursuant to the order signed that day (R. 55).

The day after the order was signed, appellants received phone notice of the entry of judgment, but not of the order for release of money. Appellants were not served a copy of the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Judgment until about a week later. It will be noted that the certificate of mailing on the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law is blank, and is erroneous, R-54, giving good further reflection of the cavalier attitude and abuse of process by plaintiff throughout this entire proceeding.

Point I

ARGUMENT

"PAYOFFS" ON PUNCH BOARDS AND PINBALL MACHINES IN A CAFE IS NOT SUFFICIENT GROUNDS TO FOUND AN ACTION IN UNLAWFUL DETAINER OR TO CAUSE FORFEITURE OF A LEASE.

It isn't disputed that plaintiff's sole claim to lease forfeiture and restitution of premises is founded on alleged "payoffs" by defendants on punch boards and pinball machines, as is apparent from plaintiff's complaint,

R. 1; plaintiff's notice of April 11, 1966, R. 4; and the notice of June 3, 1966, R. 6.

Defendants contend that even if there were "pay-offs," which to this point is not proved it being an issue of fact, then the harsh remedy of unlawful detainer and forfeiture should not be made available to plaintiff to cancel this lease, but rather plaintiff's remedy would be an action for damages or for injunctive relief.

This particular point was raised in a lessor's attempt to forfeit a lease because horse-race bets were taken by the lessee of a cafe. The California District Court of Appeals decided in *Keating vs. Preston*, 108 Pac. 2nd 479, that forfeiture would not be permitted even though there was an illegal use by gambling. The California court held that lessor's proper action was in damages or for an injunction, not forfeiture which is historically frowned upon by the courts.

Appellants also urge the court to consider that having pinball machines and punch boards on these cafe premises is not the reason for this action, but rather it is that plaintiff has been able to obtain a better agreement with a different lessee for much more money. Defendants have been in the cafe business for 25 years without any trouble of any kind, and in possession of this cafe since 1962 — and isn't it odd that all of this suddenly results when American Oil Company enters the scene?

For the conspiratorial note involved in this hurried and abusive action, appellants again emphasize that American Oil Company paid \$1,500 to plaintiff to ob-

tain cancellation of defendant's lease right (R. 47). The great hurry is that the Oil Company wants to tear the building down and get on with its own construction on appellant's property, (R. 49).

As before stated, though this action is treated as being in unlawful detainer, plaintiff's complaint theory is breach of agreement.

Paragraph 6 of plaintiff's complaint, R. 2, reads:

"It is understood and agreed that the leased premises shall be occupied and used as a restaurant and cafe only and for no other purpose whatever, and the Youngs agree to conduct said business strictly in compliance with law."

That allegation quotes a provision of the lease, and defendants claim violation thereof by maintaining a "gambling house."

As pertains to this particular facet of plaintiff's claim, appellants call the court's attention to the need to establish materiality of breach in order to found rescission.

There is fair summary of the law to be applied to the facts here at *12 Am Jur Contracts, Sec. 440*, where it is stated:

"It is not every breach of a contract or failure exactly to perform — certainly not every partial failure to perform — that entitles the other party to rescind.

"A breach which goes only to a part of the consideration, is incidental and subordinate to the main purpose of the contract, and may be compensated in damages does not warrant a rescission

of the contract; the injured party is still bound to perform his part of the agreement, his only remedy for the breach consists of the damages he has suffered therefrom. A rescission is not warranted by a breach of contract not so substantial and fundamental as to defeat the object of the parties in making the agreement. Before partial failure of consideration of one party will give the other the right of rescission, *the act failed to be performed must go to the root of the contract* where the failure to perform the contract must be in respect of matters which would render the performance of the remainder a thing different in substance from that which was contracted for.” (Emphasis supplied)

In the case at bar, what is the state of evidence as to the materiality of breach by defendants, if indeed there was a breach? :

1. There are allegations of gambling in the complaint (R. 1).

2. The allegations are denied in the answer, claiming if gambling is proved, such is not a material breach (R. 8).

3. There are 3 affidavits by plaintiff's hirelings, alleging “payoffs” (R. 16, 17, 19).

4. There are 2 affidavits by defendants denying same (R. 23, 26).

5. There is defendant's refusal to answer questions concerning “payoffs” in his deposition, (R. 60, pages 3, 4, 5, 6), based on the 5th amendment to the United States Constitution.

Since the affidavits and the pleadings now stand in equipoise, there is a reserved question of fact for determination by the jury.

Also, where is evidence of materiality which can be a question of fact? There is none, except what may be determined by a jury under proper instructions, *if* gambling is found to be the fact by the jury. Further, the state of evidence, if the matter is tried as it should be, could well warrant a finding as a matter of law, that such gambling as may be proved, if at all, is not a *substantial* breach that would relieve the landlord from continuing to perform her part of the agreement. Her remedy would be for damages, if she could prove them.

The proper remedy for all concerned as appellant sees it, would be to let the plaintiff and American Oil Company resolve their own differences and teach those people that prior written obligations are not to be so lightly treated.

Further, Sec. 78-36-3(4), 1953 UCA, states that to found an action in unlawful detainer there must be conducted "unlawful business." Appellants contend that plaintiff must prove a "business" of gambling, not merely an incident of the operation of a cafe business. Both concepts, statutory "business" and "breach of a lease condition" relate to materiality, which is a question of fact.

The evidence, if this matter is remanded for orderly Judicial Proceedings and trial by jury, as is appellants' constitutional right, will show there was no statutory "unlawful business."

Business is defined as "one's regular work occupation or employment," *Webster's Collegiate Dictionary, 5th Edition page 137*. Appellants' business is running a cafe. If there were payoffs, which respondent must prove, then she must also prove that was the "business" of appellants, and not just incidental to the business of running a cafe. She must prove that the tail wags the dog.

Point II.

UTAH STATUTES MAKING "PAY OFFS" ON PINBALL MACHINES AND PUNCH BOARDS FELONIOUS ARE UNCONSTITUTIONAL BECAUSE OF INVALID CLASSIFICATION, IMPROPER DELEGATION AND AMBIGUITY.

Gambling offenses in the State of Utah are set forth in title 76, chapter 27, Secs. 1 et seq. 1953 Code Annotated. In the entire chapter, there is only one section which reasonably describes the offense of gambling by pinball machines and by punch boards, that is Sec. 1 which makes it a felony, *supra, D' Orio vs. Startup Candy Co., 71 U 410, 26 Pac. 1037*.

Appellants contend that because of that, the entirety of Title 76, chapter 27 is unconstitutional, as it is invalid classification which is prohibited by the provisions of Article 1, Section 2 and 24 of the Utah State Constitution and the 14th amendment to the United States Constitution. This is so for the reason that operation of pinball machines and punch boards for gaming is made a felony, but the operation of a slot machine, for gaming or exhibition of bawdy pictures constitutes only a misdemeanor, 76-27-8; lottery is punishable as a misdemeanor.

or, 76-27-9; 76-27-10. The sale of vending tickets or other chances is a misdemeanor, 76-27-11, as are the remaining purportedly proscribed games in the rest of the sections of title 76, chapter 27, which include other types of lottery and bingo; bookmaking; pool selling; option selling, and all kinds of contests of chance and skill involving speed and powers of endurance of man and animal.

Appellants urge it to be fundamental that for the State to make it a felony to play with punch boards and pinball machines but only a misdemeanor to run a slot machine, horsebook, all types of pool bets and drawings, boxing contests, ad infinitum, is obviously so discriminatory that the entire chapter should be stricken, there being no savings clause.

Appellants acknowledge that an act shall not be deemed unconstitutional because of discrimination so long as there is reasonable basis for differentiation between classes and there is proper relation to the purpose to be accomplished by reason of difference.

It would be an onerous burden for this court to attempt to uphold apparent legislative expression that it is far worse, from a public policy standpoint, to pay on a pinball machine or a punch board than it is to operate a "one-armed bandit," which crime is only declared to be a misdemeanor, or to play bingo, or take bets on the fights or the ponies, all misdemeanors.

If it be urged that the operation of pinball machines and punch boards can be fitted into one of the misdemeanor sections of title 76, chapter 27, then there is

sufficient ambiguity to render the entire chapter unconstitutional.

Further, if pinballs and punch boards can be made to fit any of the misdemeanor sections, then the entire chapter is also unconstitutional because of unauthorized delegation by the legislature of authority to police officers and prosecuting attorneys to determine, willy-nilly, whether a person committing one act should be charged as a felon or a misdemeanant. The case of *United States vs. Louisville Nashville Railroad Company*, 176 Federal 942, stands for the proposition that a crime can be created only by a public act. The language of the act must be sufficient to completely declare and define the crime and affix the punishment. The court in that case stated that it is not competent for congress to delegate to the president or to the head of an executive department the power to declare what facts may constitute an offense. Appellants also contend there shouldn't be authority to determine degree, either — on the same set of facts.

Southwest Engineering Company vs. Ernst (Ariz), 291 Pac. 764 states that indefiniteness of a statutory regulation may be treated as an invalid delegation of power. The case holds that statutory language imposing duties must be so sufficient and definite as to serve as a guide to those who have the duty imposed upon them. If there is not sufficient literal significance of language to be capable of intelligent interpretation, such act would violate the Constitutional mandate, directing that the powers of the three branches of government be separate. A legislative body cannot confer unlimited power upon an officer without designating standards to guide his

action, *supra In Re Petersen*, 331 Pac. 2nd 24 (Calif.).

It is respectfully submitted that the gambling statutes of Utah are unconstitutional based on invalid classification and ambiguity. They are also unconstitutional because of unauthorized delegation of power if it is found that paying off on pinball machines and punch boards can be either a misdemeanor or a felony under Utah Code.

It is evident that if there is no crime because of these Constitutional objections, then plaintiff-respondent has no standing to charge unlawful activity of any kind or nature.

Point III.

GRANT OF SUMMARY JUDGMENT WHERE THERE IS CONTROVERTED MATERIAL FACT IS REVERSIBLE ERROR.

The trial court granted summary judgment in favor of Respondent under Rule 56 (c) URCP, which is authorized:

“If the pleadings, depositions and admissions on file, together with affidavits, if any, show there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

Respondent's motion for summary judgment was supported by self-serving affidavits of plaintiff's son and other paid hirelings. (R. 16, 17, 18, 19). Each relevant statement of plaintiff's affidavits has been specifically denied by opposing affidavits executed by defendant-appellant. (R. 23, 26).

This court in *Christensen vs. Financial Service Company*, 14 U 2nd 101, 377 Pac 2nd 1010, held that conditions for summary judgment are obviously not met if the allegations of the pleadings stand in opposition to the averments of affidavits so that there are controverted issues of fact, the determination of which is necessary to settle the rights of the parties. That case distinguished *Dupler vs. Yates*, 10 U 2nd 251, 351 Pac. 2nd 624, as well as *Continental Bank and Trust Company vs. Cunningham*, 10 Utah 2nd 329, 351 Pac 2nd 168, in which cases it was found that the affidavits, exhibits and documentary evidence did in fact resolve all material facts and in which cases the germane affidavits were not denied or controverted by opposing affidavits.

In the case at bar, there is total absence of any documentary or other type independent evidence to enable the court to find that the facts as claimed by plaintiff-respondent are irrefutably established. In this case, the allegations in the pleadings stand in opposition to what is stated in the self-serving affidavits of plaintiff. In addition, the opposing affidavits of defendant expressly controverts every material statement contained in plaintiff-respondent's affidavits.

As has been stated, the only additional matter considered by the Trial Court in the second argument of plaintiff-respondent's motion for summary judgment was the deposition of defendant when he refused to answer questions concerning "payoffs" on the grounds of self incrimination under the 5th amendment to the United States Constitution (R. 60, pages 3, 4, 5 and 6).

Appellants concede that refusal to testify may prop-

erly be considered by the trier of fact, under proper instruction from the court.

Plaintiff's attorney also agrees with the concept of law as appellant urges it. In the deposition of Preston L. Young taken July 29, 1966, the following took place after defendant's counsel advised defendant to refuse to answer questions concerning gambling (R. 60, pages 5-6):

“Question by Mr. King: Has your attorney advised you that refusal to answer in a civil action because your answer might intend to incriminate you, might induce the court to assume that your answer might be unfavorable?”

“Answer: I refuse to answer based on the 5th amendment.”

“Question: The refusal to answer doesn't lie on that because there is no fact involved there.”

“Mr. Bridwell: For your information Mr. King, that happens to be wrong. Yes, we have discussed that with him.”

“Mr. King: You have discussed with him that his refusal to answer this type of question will probably result in the court finding the fact that he has?”

“Mr. Bridwell: I think that is a question for the trier of facts. Since you are counsel and not judge, that would be up to the judge or trier of facts. In this case it would be a jury. There is a rebuttable presumption, or more accurately stated: it would entitle you to an instruction to the jury that they may find that way because of the refusal.”

“*Mr. King: I will accept that as being an accurate statement.*”

Appellants feel that the right to reversal is so elemental that they will not belabor this. However, in point is the language contained at 20 Am. Jur., Evidence, Sec. 190:

“The law creates a presumption, where the burden is on a party to prove a material fact peculiarly within his knowledge and he fails without excuse to testify, that his testimony, if introduced, would be adverse to his interest.”

But, as stated at page 194 of 20 Am. Jur.:

“In any event, where the presumption does ordinarily apply, it will be viewed as partaking of none of the character of affirmative proof. The presumptive effect of the failure of a witness to testify is obviously not tantamount to proof of the fact sought to be established through such witness. (Emphasis supplied).”

As has been set forth by this Court in *Bullock vs. Desert Dodge Truck Center, Inc* 11 Utah 2nd 1, 354 Pac. 2nd 599, there must be a showing to authorize summary judgment that is supported by evidence, admissions and inferences which, when viewed in the light most favorable to the loser, reveals there is no genuine issue concerning any material fact. That showing must preclude all reasonable possibility that the loser could, if given a trial, produce evidence which could reasonably sustain a judgment in his favor. Obviously, credibility of plaintiff-respondent's witnesses is for the jury to determine, after having received the benefit of cross examination by defendant's lawyers.

There is no ground upon which the trial court could possibly be sustained in granting plaintiff-respondent's motion. Such ruling is inconsistent with fair play and the concept that a citizen is entitled to his day in court.

CONCLUSION

It is clear appellant is entitled to a trial by jury — with an added admonition by the court that trial proceedings should move with expedition, but not by use of abusive process. This is a good case to set forth cautionary words for the benefit of future zealots, pushing untenable position for unworthy motive.

It is urged that the court announce that even if plaintiff were to prevail in a trial by jury that defendants were gaming, which has not been proved at this point, that such cannot serve to revoke a lease because legislative intent concerning gaming as set forth in Chapter 27, Title 76, 1953 UCA is not capable of intelligent interpretation or application — or if it is definite, it is so far from reality and the sound constitutional concepts of reasonable classification as to be void.