1966

## Mary Louise Gerard v. Preston L. Young and Unice Young : Respondent's Brief

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

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

THE EVIDENCE SHOWS THAT DEFENDANTS HAD GAMBLING AT THE CAFE BEFORE AND AFTER SERVICE OF NOTICE TO DESIST AND THE FILING OF THE COMPLAINT.

The plaintiff's positive evidence is contained in the affidavits filed in support of her motions for summary judgment. The affidavit of Evan Holladay indicates a continuous course of gambling as part of defendant's business (R. 16). The affidavits of Bryant Hanson (R. 17), and Larry A. Hanson (R. 18), give evidence of specific instances of gambling even after filing of the Complaint.

The defendants' pleadings concern a point clearly within the factual knowledge of the defendants — that they either did or did not, as part of their business, pay off on their punchboards and pinballs to winning players.

Despite many pleadings, the defendants have still neither admitted nor denied the gambling. Their Answer states, "Defendants admit receipt of notice and that they disregarded the same," (R. 8). If they had not been gambling as part of their business, they would have had an automatic compliance with the notices. The Answer further states, "If plaintiff proves that defend-

ants maintained pinball machines as gambling devices and punchboards as gambling devices, which is denied . . .” (R. 8). This statement is also a *non sequitur*. If they weren’t gambling, why should they say plaintiff might prove that they were? If they were gambling, and this being a fact of which the defendants had to be aware, why did they deny it in their pleading?

The answer seems to violate R. 11, URCP, and to be an admission of gambling under R 8 (b) and (d), URCP, *Deseret Savings Bank v. Walker et al.*, 78 Utah 241, 248, 2P. 2d 609, holding on issue of non-specific denial of facts within pleader’s knowledge, “There was no specific denial of the facts alleged in paragraph 6 of the Complaint, and that it must therefor be assumed that such facts were admitted. In that event no evidence of their existence was necessary to support the findings of such facts by the court.”

Defendants’ subsequent pleadings followed the same course and might have exhausted the patience of the court.

Plaintiff filed a Motion for Summary Judgment based on the pleadings and the aforesaid affidavits (R. 14, 15). Defendants’ reply was an affidavit which did not deny that defendants used the cafe for gambling purposes, nor even that specific payoffs as alleged had been made. Their affidavit stated only that they had no recollection of the specific payoffs alleged by plaintiff (R. 23, 24). The court promptly entered Judgment against defendants. Defendants, without any notice to plain-



tiff, prevailed on the trial court to set aside the Judgment (R. 30), on the grounds that defendants' pleadings were "a mistake of counsel, George E. Bridwell, and such should not be given efficacy to penalize substantive rights of defendants" (R. 29).

On close reading, however, defendants' affidavit in support of their motion to set aside (R. 26), does not deny a course of business including gambling, but only again that they do not recall the specific payoffs alleged by the Hansons' affidavits (R. 17, 18), and that as to the affidavit of Evan Holladay alleging a continuous course of gambling (R. 16), Holladay might be a liar. The clear inference from defendant's affidavits is that they gambled so often that they can't remember who they paid.

Plaintiff then took defendant Preston Young's deposition (R. 60). Pages 3 through 6 of the deposition are a list of questions concerning whether the defendants maintained pinballs and punchboards at the cafe for gambling (Depos. 3, 4), both before and after notice to desist and the filing of the Complaint, and as to whether both before and after notice the defendant was paying off the winners (Depos. 4-6). Defendant Preston Young refused to answer all questions based on the Fifth Amendment.

Plaintiff then filed a new Motion for Summary Judgment (R. 36, 37). The Motion pointed out that defendants had still refused in their pleadings to admit or deny the facts and that in the deposition the Fifth Amend-

ment was taken. Because defendants had complained of collusion between plaintiff's affiants, plaintiff, in her motion, volunteered to have the affiants and Eddie Davies, one of the persons who had received payoffs, present at the hearing. They did appear and defendant chose not to examine them. Defendant Preston Young's deposition was published and plaintiff again was given **Summary Judgment.**

The evidence summarized shows a course of gambling by defendants at all times. It shows that defendants still evade an answer to this issue in their pleadings. It show that the defendant Preston Young, refused to answer concerning gambling, based on self-incrimination at his deposition, even though he was then aware that such refusal would be a basis for the court to infer that he had been using the cafe for gambling purposes (Depos. 5, 6). *State v. Aime*, 62 Utah 476, 486, 220 P. 704, states, although in a criminal case, "... When he voluntarily testified he is subject to the same rules as other witnesses, and his failure to deny a material fact within his knowledge previously testified to against him warrants the inference that it is true." 20 Am. Jur., Evidence §190, pp. 193-194.

## POINT II

### DEFENDANTS' GAMBLING OPERATION AT THE CAFE WAS A PROPER GROUND FOR TERMINATION OF THEIR LEASE.

Defendants' gambling was unlawful. Their brief alleges that the gambling statutes of Utah are void and

so their gambling was legal. This overlooks the general prohibition against gambling contained in Art. 6 §27, Utah Constitution, and implemented by anti-gambling ordinances of Salt Lake City and Salt Lake County.

The cafe was situate in Salt Lake County at the time this lawsuit was started. It is now in Salt Lake City by annexation. Salt Lake County acted under the authority given it by the State Legislature in 17-5-35 UCA, 1953 (Police, building, and sanitary regulations — Power to make) and 17-5-77 UCA, 1953 (Ordinances — Power to Enact — Penalty for Violation).

**4-10-1, Salt Lake County Ordinances, Revised 1953,** prohibits gambling in the county by language which covers pinball and punchboard payoffs.

“All gambling and gaming of every kind and description by playing of cards, dice, faro, roulette, keno, poker, slot machines, devices known as trade machines, or any like machines or devices by whatever name known, or any contrivance or device by or with which money, merchandise or anything of value may be bet, staked, hazarded, won or lost, upon chance, or at any other game or scheme of chance whatever, and by betting on the results of horse races or on the result of any contest, skill or endurance of men or animals by means of book-making, pools, turn exchanges or other devices, for money or other property or thing of value within the county is hereby declared unlawful.”

**4-10-2, Salt Lake County Ordinances, revised 1953,** defines a gambling house without reference to frequency

of the gambling, and makes it unlawful for either a lessee or a lessor of property to allow it to be used for gambling,

“UNLAWFUL TO KEEP OR MAINTAIN GAMBLING HOUSE. It shall be unlawful for any person to conduct, keep or maintain a house, building, room or other place where any of the games or schemes herein prohibited are carried on, conducted or operated. It shall be unlawful for any person knowingly to permit or suffer any of the games or schemes herein declared unlawful to be carried on or kept, maintained or operated in any house, building, room or other place owned by him in whole or in part or by him leased or let to any other person.”

1-1-6 Salt Lake County Ordinances, Revised 1953, make the above offenses misdemeanors.

The legislature by 10-8-41, UCA, 1953, gave a similar power to Salt Lake City, and the city enacted ordinances comparable to those of Salt Lake County by 17-1-4, 6, Salt Lake City Ordinances.

The gambling being unlawful, did plaintiff have grounds for termination of the lease?

Defendant relies on this point on the case of *Keating v. Preston*, 108 P. 2d 479 (Calif.). In that case the lessor's attempt to terminate a lease was denied although the lessee was permitting gambling. That case, however, was conditioned on two points, first that the lease didn't prohibit the conduct, and second that there was no statutory provision that made the conduct a basis for lease forfeiture.

In the instant case as to the first point above, the lease provides:

“It is understood and agreed that the said leased premises shall be occupied and used as a restaurant and cafe only, and for no other purpose whatever, and the Youngs agree to conduct said business strictly in compliance with law.” (R. 2)

As to the second point, 78-36-3, UCA, 1953, provides:

“UNLAWFUL DETAINER BY TENANT FOR TERM LESS THAN LIFE. — A Tenant of real property, for a term less than life, is guilty of an unlawful detainer:

(4) When he assigns or sublets the leased premises contrary to the covenants of the lease, or commits or permits waste thereon, or *when he sets up or carries on therein or thereon any unlawful business*, or when he suffers, permits or maintains on or about said premises any nuisance, and remains in possession after service upon him of a three days' notice to quit; or,

(5) *When he continues in possession, in person or by subtenant, after neglect or failure to perform any condition or covenant of the lease or agreement under which the property is held, other than those hereinbefore mentioned, and after notice in writing requiring in the alternative the performance of such conditions or covenant or the surrender of the property, served upon him, and, if there is a subtenant in actual occupation of the premises, also upon such subtenant, shall remain uncomplied with for five days after service thereof.* Within three days after the service of the notice the tenant, or any subtenant in actual occupation of the premises, or any mortgagee of the

term, or other person interested in its continuance, may perform such condition or covenant and thereby save the lease from forfeiture; provided, that if the covenants and conditions of the lease violated by the lessee cannot afterwards be performed, then no notice as last prescribed herein need be given." (Emphasis added)

It should be noted that while the unlawful detainer statutes have a number of precise conditions concerning due notice, that defendants have stated no point denying proper notice at any point in the proceedings before the trial court or this court.

Is the gambling of sufficient substance to justify lease termination? The facts show a continuous course of gambling. While the affidavits of the Hansons (R. 17-19) relate only isolated instances, the Complaint charges a course of gambling and of *maintaining machines for that purpose* at the cafe, as does the affidavit of Evan Holladay (R. 16). As stated in Point I, these allegations not having been denied are deemed admitted.

The gambling is substantial when viewed from plaintiff's eyes because, as lessor, she herself is liable to criminal prosecution if she allows gambling on the premises she has leased. 76-27-3 UCA, 1953, and 4-10-2, Salt Lake County Ordinances, Revised, 1953. The defendants having refused to desist, she has the duty of forcing them to, which this lawsuit hopes to do. The rule is stated in *Zotalis v. Cannellos et al.*, 164 NW 807 (Minn.), which held shaking dice for cigars was grounds for lease termination based on a lease term against gambling:

“The violation of a condition in the lease cannot be said to be trivial when the violation is of such a character that the lessor may be subjected to a criminal prosecution therefore.”

Finally, 78-36-3(5) UCA, 1953, makes no distinction between great and small breaches of a lease, nor is there a Utah case on this point. To satisfy this statute what is required is only that a breach be proved and that after notice given pursuant to the statute, that the breach continue. On this there is no argument on the facts as evidenced by the unrebutted affidavits of Bryant and Larry A. Hanson as to payoffs, on May 21, 1966, and June 3, 1966 (R. 17-19), with notice under 78-3-36(4)& (5) UCA, 1953, previously served on April 12, 1966 (R. 4, 5). *Gilbert v. Peck*, 121 P. 315 (Calif.); 32 Am. Jur., Landlord and Tenant, §864, pp. 731; 100 ALR 2d 469 et seq.

### CONCLUSION

It is respectfully submitted that the summary judgment is well supported by the facts and law and should be affirmed.